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Friday, September 18, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board is sitting today in connection with a notice of intention to make an order for compliance under section 112.3 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  It was issued by the Board on August 4th.  On August 17th, the Board received a response from Toronto Hydro asking that the Board hold a hearing, and, subsequently, on the 21st of August, the Board issued a procedural order in setting the date for that hearing.

Subsequently, on September 11th, a second procedural order was issued by the Board in which it set a date, September 18th, today's date, to hear submissions with respect to applications by two parties, the Electric Distributors Association and the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, to intervene in this process.

In that order of September 11th, the Board also set next Friday, September 25th, as a date to hear submissions with respect to Mr. Vegh's motion of September 4th regarding production of certain documents.

So today, gentlemen, we will deal with the intervention request.  May we have the appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. VEGH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  George Vegh on behalf of Toronto Hydro.  Good morning, Ms. Chaplin.  And I am joined by Colin McLorg, manager, regulatory affairs at Toronto Hydro.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Glen Zacher appearing as compliance counsel in this matter, along with Ms. Helt, and I might just enter an appearance on behalf of my colleague, Patrick Duffy, who may appear from time to time, as well.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Dennis O'Leary for the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group, which consists of Carma Industries, Enbridge Electric, Hydro Connection, Intellimeter Provident Energy Management, Stratacon and Wyse Meter Solutions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. TAYLOR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Andrew Taylor, counsel for the Electricity Distributors Association, and with me is Maurice Tucci.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Chaplin.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined by Lenore Dougan.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Vegh, do you want to start?  I guess we will hear first from the applicants, I suppose.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if I might suggest, I believe in this case the applicants for this particular proceeding are those seeking intervention status.  We had some discussion beforehand.  I think Mr. Taylor and Mr. O'Leary have agreed to go first.  They're the parties seeking intervention status.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Taylor, Mr. O'Leary, who wants to proceed?  Are you ready?  Okay, you are up to bat.
Submissions by Mr. O'Leary:

MR. O'LEARY:  I should perhaps clarify what the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group is looking for.  The letter that the group forwarded, which was dated August 28th, 2009, we did not specify any particular rule or did we specify in that that we were looking for status as a full party.

In fact, we are not looking for status as a full party in this proceeding.  We have had the opportunity to review Mr. Zacher's written submissions and we generally agree with his submissions.

The tests that he has set out as being applicable for the purposes of determining whether a party should be granted intervenor status, we accept that that is the test.

It is arguable that the Smart Sub-Metering Group meets the test, but, in fact, we felt that the appropriate role for the group to play in this proceeding is not to seek full intervenor status and not to be a full party to the proceeding, which would be something that is required, and we would have to apply to the Board for approval to appear as a party under Rule 23.

But our involvement, we thought, would more properly fit under Rule 24, which is the public comment provisions, where a party -- while where the group participating or the entity participating is not a party to the proceeding, but they have the right to file a letter of comment.  And, in this case, the Smart Sub-Metering Group, as indicated in its letter to the Board, felt that it could be of assistance to the Board providing its comments and views in respect of any remedies or steps that the Board might take to prevent any future non-compliance, should you find that Toronto Hydro is in non-compliance as a result of this proceeding.

So it is a public comment type of status that we are seeking.

Now, we would prefer, and by my request now I am asking for, approval to do it by means of an oral presentation and/or in writing, rather than just in writing alone.  As I read Rule 24.05, we do require your approval for an oral presentation.

But it is our submission that a public comment can be made by a person or entity, and that, in fact, we do not need to apply for the right to do that.

It is our intention, again, only to participate to the extent of speaking to issues of remedies and appropriate steps, which is what I would consider phase 2 of this proceeding.  As I read your notice of intention, the first step that the Board will be taking will be to consider whether or not there has been non-compliance, and then, once a determination has been made in that regard, what are the appropriate remedies and steps that should have taken thereafter.

Now, there should be little question members of the sub-metering working group are affected and will be affected by your decision in this proceeding.  It deals specifically with two situations, the Metrogate and Avonshire projects.

One of the members of Smart Sub-Metering Working Group would have supplied the sub-metering systems for those buildings.

MR. KAISER:  Which one is that?

MR. O'LEARY:  It is Provident Energy, sir.

So there is at least one member of the group that is directly affected with the very two projects which are the subject of this complaint.  Just given the nature of the industry, if Toronto Hydro tells a developer that they won't get power unless Toronto Hydro does the suite metering in the building, and they have no option, not surprisingly the developer will say to the sub-metering company, I have no choice -- even though I have entered into a contract with you, I have no choice, but I've got to get power to get this building going.

So members of the sub-metering committee have been affected by the conduct.  So I think the most important test, in terms of determining whether or not there is a direct interest affected by members of the sub-metering group has clearly been met.

But that being said, we do accept my friend Mr. Zacher's submissions that this is not your typical proceeding.  It is not a rate proceeding.  This is not a public policy proceeding.

It is a proceeding to deal with whether or not Toronto Hydro has been in compliance with its regulatory requirements and its obligations under statute, and whether or not its conditions of service are reflective of the regulatory regime.

We agree that it is not appropriate for parties to participate in an intervention-type capacity.  Thus, in our letter, we indicated we had no intention to lead evidence and we had no intention to cross-examine.

Therefore, we are looking for authority to make an oral presentation under the public comment provisions.

Now, that being said, my friend, Mr. Andrew (sic) is, I believe on behalf of the EDA, is going to be suggesting that they should be granted some further rights.  I am not sure it lies in my mouth to take a position as to whether or not they should have status here or not.

Certainly our view is that this proceeding and what the outcome of this proceeding will have, in terms of an impact, is greater on the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group than it is on a group representing local distribution companies, in that Toronto Hydro is already represented here.  So, really, the EDA would simply be another voice.

In the event that you do grant, as a result of the EDA's request, if they're asking for status greater than what we are doing, we would ask for the same status and to ultimately be able to participate to the same degree that they are.

But we would suggest that if they're asking for something greater than what the Smart Sub-Metering Working Group is asking for, it is inappropriate and should not be granted.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, are you content with that limited participation?

MR. ZACHER:  We are content with that limited participation, to the extent that it is addressed to the issue of an appropriate remedy.

MR. KAISER:  Remedy.  Argument only.  Mr. Vegh.
Submissions by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  I was going to make submissions in response to both of the intervention requests, because I think there is a lot of overlap, but to just react to what Mr. O'Leary said, our concern with the working group position from the beginning, when we first saw the letter and from what was said this morning, is not so much about their entitlement to make submissions.  And I will make, in my fuller submissions, that participants, intervenors, call them what you will, should be in a position to make legal submissions only.

My concern is that what Mr. O'Leary is proposing and what you heard this morning was actual statements of evidence.  So he talked about even in his submissions this morning the relative impact of Toronto Hydro's practices on working group members and the EDA.  He gave evidence on which, on what would have happened to one condo developer if Toronto Hydro did not have its practice and who would have gotten the contract.

So the concern is that it is appropriate, perhaps, for Mr. O'Leary's clients to make submissions but they have to do it on the basis of the evidence that is in the record and they cannot use the opportunity of making submissions to introduce new evidence, including evidence on adverse impact.

But I will make my fuller submissions --

MR. KAISER:  That seems reasonable, Mr. O'Leary.  I don't think you were going to use your argument rights to introduce new evidence, were you?

MR. O'LEARY:  No, Mr. Chair.  The rule is quite specific that a person who makes an oral presentation shall not do so under oath.  So the rule presupposes that it is not evidence.  But in terms of considering the impact of a potential remedy, it would certainly be our intention to discuss the, at least hypothetically the impact on various parties.

MR. KAISER:  Your argument, as you propose it, first of all you will limit your participation to argument.  There will be no evidence, no cross-examination on your part.  It will be restricted to the effectiveness, if I can say that, of the remedies or the appropriate remedies and alternative remedies?

MR. O'LEARY:  That is what we are proposing, sir, subject of course to if the EDA is granted --

MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  We will deal with that.  So just we have it clear between -- do you accept that?  You would consent to their participation on that basis?  Or not?

MR. VEGH:  Again, sir, I did want to go to the case law specifically to put more clear parameters about what can be said about adverse impact, given the need to have evidence on adverse impact.

So subject to the -- I don't propose to go through the case law on this now, but subject to that point which I think you appreciate, we're not opposed to the participation of the working group or the EDA to make legal submissions.

MR. KAISER:  But they may not be strictly legal submissions, they may be views as to the appropriateness of the remedy.  That's not necessarily a legal submission, but they won't be bringing in any new evidence.

MR. VEGH:  So all of the submissions, including the appropriateness of the remedy, would have to be based on the evidence found in front of the Board.

MR. KAISER:  Of course, there is no dispute on that, I take it, Mr. O'Leary.

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well then maybe, Mr. Taylor, we can hear from you.
Submissions by Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  I would like to start off just by clarifying, clarifying the August 26th, 2009 letter that was sent by the EDA to the Board that initiated its participation so far.

I just want to say that the EDA is not under the impression that this is a policy hearing.  I know that the word "policy" was used in the letter.  We don't expect that any codes are going to be amended as a result of this hearing.

I think that when the EDA wrote "policy," what they meant was precedent and the concern that they have is that there is the potential for a precedent to be set in this proceeding that could have an influence on other Board panels when examining similar circumstances for other LDCs.

So we are not seeking costs as well.  I am not sure if there was any confusion on that, but in the factum that was filed by Mr. Zacher, there was a discussion on costs.  We are not seeking costs.

What we are seeking is intervenor status.  When we look at the rules --

MR. KAISER:  Is that full intervenor status?

MR. TAYLOR:  Well --

MR. KAISER: -- in its limited form that Mr. O'Leary is talking about?

MR. TAYLOR:  It is intervenor status with certain limitations.  And it is not as limited as Mr. O'Leary was requesting.

It wasn't clear to me whether or not Mr. O'Leary would just be happy with relying on the public comment section of the rules or -- but if we were to get full intervenor status with certain limitations, then he would want that as well.  But we would like intervenor status.

The participation that we envision will consist of filing a submission.  The submission would not be restricted to remedy.  We would like to make submissions on the law.

We have no intention of cross-examining Toronto Hydro or any witnesses that they would put up.

MR. KAISER:  You won't be calling evidence.

MR. TAYLOR:  We will not be calling any evidence whatsoever.

Now, should Board Counsel decide to put witnesses up, there is a chance that we might want to cross-examine those witnesses.  However, I would expect that that cross-examination would be extremely limited, given that Toronto Hydro would presumably be cross-examining those witnesses and they will do a fine job doing that.

So in that regard, our participation would be quite limited.  We don't want to rely on the public comment section of the rules, because we wouldn't be an intervenor, a registered intervenor, and quite frankly, in my view, public comments filed under that section of the rules don't bear as much weight as final submissions from registered intervenors.

So our preference is really to be a registered intervenor, with certain limitations attached, that we agree to.

Now as far as the rules -- and I am looking at the Board's rules -- we have to demonstrate a substantial interest.  The substantial interest, as I mentioned, is that this could have an influence on other Board panels when examining similar circumstances.  The EDA has a number of members who are interested in this proceeding and whether or not they can engage in the same types of activities that Toronto Hydro is engaging in.

So to that extent, they have a substantial interest.  Now direct or --

MR. KAISER:  Can I ask.  Is the interest of your clients, your utilities, if I can --

MR. TAYLOR:  Pardon me.

MR. KAISER: -- is it the same as Toronto Hydro's interests?

MR. TAYLOR:  Not insofar as they're actually engaging in the same types of activities, but they may wish to.

MR. KAISER:  Well, that's my question.

MR. TAYLOR:  Then, yes.

MR. KAISER:  Your clients, your utilities, which I guess is everyone in the province, more or less, including Toronto Hydro, I suppose, they want to engage in the same activity that Toronto Hydro wants to engage in, is that accurate?

MR. TAYLOR:  No.  I can't say that they all do, but I could say that there are some --

MR. KAISER:  That is your interest in preserving that right for your clients?

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. KAISER:  So you are aligned with Toronto Hydro?

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  So what will you add that they can't take care of?

MR. TAYLOR:  We won't know until we see how they take care of it.

MR. KAISER:  I see.

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.  There is a chance that we might not add much.  At the end of the day, we may say we simply endorse Toronto Hydro's position.  That very well could happen, but maybe it won't.  We want to preserve the right and the opportunity.

We don't see that this will cause this proceeding to drag on in any way whatsoever.  The EDA participates responsibly in hearings and we will do so in this case as well.

MR. KAISER:  Let me just -- I want to make sure I understand your position clearly and how it corresponds with Mr. O'Leary's.  And if I get this wrong, you will correct me.

But as I heard you, Mr. O'Leary, you weren't going to take a position on the, if I can call it, the main issue or the first issue as to whether an order should go.  You are simply going to comment on the appropriate relief or the form of the order in the event that that decision was made?  Did I get that right?

MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, sir.  We see the role of compliance counsel as being responsible for the former and we thought the only additional assistance we could provide is in respect to the remedy, because it affects members of my group.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  I understood that.

And you, sir, I take it you actually want to weigh in on issue number 1, as well, as to whether an order should go?

MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  As well as the secondary issue, that if an order should issue, what form it should take and what relief it should contain?

MR. TAYLOR:  Correct.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  I think we have it.  Anything else?

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I think that the Board would benefit from the EDA's participation in this proceeding, number 1.  Number 2, the way I see it, this is Toronto Hydro's proceeding.  They requested this proceeding.  And if Toronto Hydro doesn't object to our status as an intervenor in this limited fashion, then I would hope that the Board wouldn't or would respect that.

MR. KAISER:  Are you objecting, Mr. Vegh, to the application by the EDA to intervene on the basis they have set out this morning?

MR. VEGH:  The answer is, no, Toronto Hydro is not objecting to the EDA's making legal submissions in this proceeding, on what you call issue number 1 and issue number 2.  I think the real issue number 1 is has there been non-compliance.  And issue number 2, is if so, what order if any should follow.

So on that basis, Toronto Hydro is not opposing the intervention.

I understand Mr. Zacher is going to make more detailed submissions and I did want to respond to some of the points in his written argument but the bottom line answer is Toronto Hydro does not oppose the intervention of EDA to make legal submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Zacher, did you want to go before Mr. Vegh, or how do you gentlemen wish to handle that?

MR. ZACHER:  I am happy to do that.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Please go ahead.
Submissions by Mr. Zacher:

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, Ms. Chaplin, you have our written submissions, so I think you have got the gist of our position and probably it is not necessary to reiterate it entirely.

Having heard Mr. O'Leary, we are content with the position that the EDA has taken.  We do take issue with the more -- the wider breadth of participation that is sought by the EDA; that is, to make submissions on all of the issues.  And I think Mr. Vegh is correct in indicating that really sort of the threshold issue is:  Has there been a contravention or has there not been a contravention?

On that particular issue, it is our submission that no outside party legitimately has an interest in weighing in on that.

Just to sort of step back for a moment, the issue really, in my view, that is at stake here is:  What is the nature and the scope of this proceeding?  That is an issue on which the intervention request made by the EDA turns, and not to jump too far ahead, but it is also an issue that is going to be important for the purpose of Mr. Vegh's motion next week with regards to production and with regards to the proper process for this proceeding, because you need to define the nature and the scope upfront, and then, after that is done, the procedural issues, the procedural rights, will follow.


Even though in our case book and in our written submissions we have adverted to cases that say, when you are dealing with intervention, there is specific criteria to be assessed - for instance:  Do the proposed intervenors have a direct and substantial interest in the proceeding?  Do the proposed intervenors have a useful contribution to make, and will the proposed interventions cause undue delay? - those issues are all really subordinate to the question of:  What is the nature and scope of the proceeding, because it is only once that has been defined that you can then address the issue of:  Does this person have a real stake in the outcome of this compliance proceeding?

Does this proposed intervenor have a useful contribution to make to the matters that are in issue in this proceeding?

So if we could just -- and it might be useful to turn up the notice of compliance, which is at tab 1 of our book, because the first issue in terms of, what is the nature, what is the type of proceeding, this is, in essence, a compliance action.

It is brought under the compliance section of the OEB Act.  It is triggered by a notice issued by the Board.  A hearing has been requested by Toronto Hydro.  And at the end of the day, it is for Board compliance staff to prove the charges that are set out in that notice, and it is for the Panel to adjudicate and determine:  Has there been a contravention, has there not been a contravention, and, if there has, what is the appropriate remedy?

So that is the nature -- that is the type of the proceeding.

In terms of the scope, the scope is set out by the allegations that are made in the notice.  And, in this case, what the notice says is that Toronto Hydro has breached a number of enforceable provisions, or there is evidence to suggest that they will breach enforceable provisions.

The position of Board Staff is that those provisions create a scheme, and under that scheme owners or developers of condominiums are given a choice.  They're given a choice to have their condo, all of the condo units, smart metered by their local distributor, in which case all of the individual unit owners become the customer of the distributor, or, alternatively, they can select a competitive smart metering provider to smart sub-meter the individual units, in which case the unit owners do not become customers of Toronto Hydro; rather, only the condo owner does through the bulk meter.

So the specific allegation against Toronto Hydro in this case is that it has, in its conditions of service and offers to connect, refused to connect condominium owners or condominium developers unless all of the units are smart metered by Toronto Hydro, so that all of the unit owners become Toronto Hydro customers.  That is the issue.

And that is the issue that has to be decided by the Panel in this proceeding.

So coming back to why I submit that the EDA or anybody else does not have a basis for intervening in this proceeding to make submissions on that issue, the reason is that they do not have a direct or substantial interest in the outcome.  And that is a requisite factor that has to be established in order to obtain consent -- in order to obtain an order that intervention be allowed.

The order at the end of the day is going to be -- if a contravention is found, is going to be an in persona order.  It is only going to impact Toronto Hydro.  So it is not like a lot of the orders that this Board makes that impact ratepayers, generally, or impact other groups, directly impact their rights.

It only impacts Toronto Hydro.

This would be different if this was a policy proceeding, if there was -- if the issues in this proceeding concerned whether the current regime was an appropriate regime or whether there should be changes to codes or regulations or rules, but that is not at issue.

This is a pure adjudicative proceeding, and the only issue, I submit, for your Panel's consideration and determination is:  Has there been a contravention or has there not been a contravention, number one?  Number one, if there has, what is the appropriate compliance remedy?

MR. KAISER:  Wouldn't it become a precedent, as counsel for the EDA suggests, as to whether this practice, this alleged practice, I should say, that you have outlined of Toronto Hydro contravenes the requirements that these utilities operate under?

MR. ZACHER:  It would.

MR. KAISER:  Wouldn't that principle apply to all utilities?

MR. ZACHER:  It would.  But that is, Mr. Chair, respectfully, an issue that arises in all sorts cases, and it isn't a basis for obtaining a grant of intervention.

Toronto Hydro has to -- Toronto Hydro and every other distributor has to comply with the law now, and they're going to have to comply with the law after your ruling.  But the actual order that you have the jurisdiction to make, in this proceeding, is not going to impact them in any substantial or direct way.

There is a -- the Greenberg case, Mr. Chair, in our authorities, which is at tab 9, referenced that point at paragraph 23.  You don't need to turn it up.  But in that case, a request for intervention was sought before the Ontario Labour Relations Board, and the panel in that case found that the fact that the decision in a proceeding may be used or referred to as a precedent in another proceeding was not a basis for granting the intervention.  So that point was addressed.

The issue of useful contribution, and so that factor, has been discussed as being able to bring a perspective or a fresh insight that other parties wouldn't otherwise be able to bring or to be able to adduce evidence that otherwise would not be before the panel.  And, in that respect, again, that is not a basis for allowing intervention in this case, because the issue, the precise issue, is an adjudicative one, whether a contravention has occurred or whether a contravention hasn't occurred.

What the statute mandates is that this that is something for Board Staff to prove.  That is something for Toronto Hydro to defend, and it is something for this Panel to adjudicate on, but it is not appropriate, in that sort of a context, to have other parties participate either for the purpose of assisting enforcement counsel or for the purpose of acting in support of the defendant.

MR. KAISER:  Do you object to the EDA participating on the same basis as Mr. O'Leary has outlined?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, I do.  Simply because Mr. O'Leary has articulated a reason why he, on behalf of his clients, may be of assistance to the Panel in making a decision.

His clients are the ones who have been affected or stand to be affected by the impugned conduct of Toronto Hydro.

So he may be able, on behalf of his clients, to suggest the appropriate remedy to be fashioned in order to address this conduct.  That's not to say that at the end of the day the Panel will accept those submissions, but it is a perspective that he has that is unique.  I absolutely agree with Mr. Vegh, that in making submissions on that, he cannot make submissions based on evidence that is not before the Panel.

So to the extent it is necessary for Mr. O'Leary to make submissions on other evidence, then it is not appropriate.  And the reason I say it is not appropriate for the EDA to intervene on that same basis is because they're not uniquely situated in the same way as Mr. O'Leary's clients.

In my view, the interests of the EDA are entirely overlapping with Toronto Hydro and to the extent that there are issues that the EDA thinks ought to be advanced, Toronto Hydro can consult with them and they can be advanced through Toronto Hydro.

Those are my submissions, unless you have any questions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  That's helpful.  Mr. Vegh.
Further Submissions by Mr. Vegh:

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.

I do agree with much of what was said by Mr. Zacher in his written submissions and in his oral submissions today, but I do have some qualifications that I would like to address in a moment.

To be helpful as I already indicated, that Toronto Hydro will leave it to the parties to support their intervention.  We are not making submissions in support of an intervention.  But Toronto Hydro does not oppose allowing the parties to participate in this process to make submissions.

Now, like Mr. Zacher, I think the scope of the participation should be restricted to at least legal argument.  Mr. Zacher proposes the restriction be restricted to remedy.  And that may be appropriate, if the Panel decides.  Though I do think that the issues in this application will be broader than that, and that the Panel may want to bear that in mind when considering the scope of intervention that it would consider helpful in making its determination in this case.

Mr. Zacher referred to the Torstar case.  I would like to take you to the Torstar case but -- not at this moment, but in my submissions, I think that is the right authority, but I think it is not factually on all fours with this case and you should bear, in my submission -- I submit that you should bear that distinction in mind when making your decisions.

First, maybe I will specify where it is I agree with Mr. Zacher.  I agree with the test for intervention test.  I agree that it is very important to consider the context for this proceeding.  It is an adversarial proceeding and that is different than an economic regulation-type of proceeding, like a rates case.

I specifically agree that the authorities referred to in Mr. Zacher's written submissions at paragraphs 16 and 17 -- I won't take you to them -- but these authorities do set out the appropriate context for this application.  Those authorities are OSC, Ontario Security Commission disciplinary hearings and I think that is a very good analogy to the type of proceeding that we are engaged in here and that is a helpful -- will provide helpful guidance to the Board throughout these proceedings.

As I said I agree that the Torstar decision does layout the appropriate principles and the one that -- principle in that case that Toronto Hydro particularly would emphasize is that there should only be one prosecutor in this case, not two prosecutors.

And that goes to the working group submissions.

So I will address the areas where I think it is appropriate to make submissions but I don't think any party, other than the compliance counsel, should be making, providing evidence or making submissions on the guilt or innocence of Toronto Hydro.

That is a matter between prosecution and Toronto Hydro for the Board to determine, and I won't take you to them, but the Torstar decision does have statements in paragraph 15 and 17 to that effect.

I also agree that this is a compliance hearing and it should not be making new policy.  I don't think that any party should be asking the Board to amend the DSC to support their policy point of view.  That restriction applies both to intervenors but it also applies to compliance counsel, of course.  Any DSC amendment would have to be taken care of through the appropriate process to amend the DSC.

So I do want to now identify the areas where I think there is daylight between the positions of Toronto Hydro and compliance counsel.

The first is one that has already been covered, that is the need to have strict enforcement of the rule that any submissions made by the working group or anyone else, not include argument.  I know, Panel, and I say this with greatest respect, that the Panel is aware of the distinction between argument and evidence.  The practice in a rates case or economic regulation is somewhat loser than in a prosecution, and I would just ask that that boundary be patrolled a little more closely in this case than is often the case.  Where an economic regulation is probably less significant and we often hear counsel standing up and effectively giving evidence.  That is not appropriate in this case and I would just give the examples from Mr. O'Leary this morning.  Those are the types of areas where I would submit it is inappropriate for counsel to be providing evidence.  That is what is the impact on a particular party or even group of companies as a result of this, that should be taken into account in making a remedy.

So I think Mr. Zacher and I agree on the principle and I am perhaps more of -- asking for more strict compliance with that principle than is often the case in economic regulation.

The second area where I am reluctant to agree whole heartedly with Mr. Zacher's proposal is with respect to the scope of submissions for the intervenors.  Mr. Zacher says that the scope should be limited to remedy.  Again, I don't necessarily disagree with that.  I just would not want to be taken to agree that this is a sole area in dispute in this case or the sole area where the Board may benefit from hearing submissions.

This takes me to the Torstar case.  In the Torstar case, the only issue between compliance staff and the defendant was the remedy.  And the court said it was appropriate to provide submissions on remedy.  But in the Torstar case, there was an agreed statement of facts.  In fact, there was a guilty plea in that case.  So there was no other issue for the panel to determine assuming that they accepted the plea and the agreed statement -- other than remedy.

So that was the issue that the panel in that case heard submissions on.

But in this case, the disagreement is much broader than remedy.  And so it could well be -- well it will be that legal submissions will be much broader in this case than in the Torstar case and I think the Board may want to take that into account and it may be that after you take that into account, you do restrict intervenor submissions to the issue of remedy, and I would not object to that, but I want to provide you with enough information at least for disclosure purposes so that the Board is not, today, too categorical about what it will hear submissions on.

So I think it is only fair to lay out just a bit of a scenario for this case so you can consider, in putting -- so that you can consider in identifying the scope of interventions and submissions just what it is some of the issues might be.

As I said, the areas --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just before you do, Mr. Vegh, just so I am clear.  I am correct that you suggested that, for example, the EDA should not be making submissions on, I think you characterized it as guilt or innocence.  That only you and Mr. Zacher should be making submission on that.

So are you now going and describing some other areas where there may be -- other than guilt and innocence and remedy, that there are other --

MR. VEGH:  Yes, yes.  That's what I was getting to, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  To appreciate that, I think it is important to appreciate that the areas of disagreement in this case are much broader than they were in Torstar.  Torstar was an easier case.

In this case the compliance staff alleges that Toronto Hydro violated some enforceable provisions.  Mr. Zacher laid out that case with his client's perspective on it and it is set out in paragraphs 8 and 9 of his written submissions as well.

There will be -- there will be disagreements on facts in this case.  There are disagreements on the facts as alleged and the prosecution will have to prove all of those facts.  One important area of disagreement that I want to raise with you now is with respect to how those enforceable provisions should be interpreted.  It is a matter of interpretation on these enforceable provisions; not changing the provisions, but how should they be interpreted?

Toronto Hydro has advised the Board Staff that it believes that the requirements for the enforceable provisions have been met, that Toronto Hydro has been in compliance, and also that Toronto Hydro has met the specific defences to the enforceable provisions.

I won't set out that argument here today, but it is clear from the months of correspondence between Toronto Hydro and compliance staff that there is a disagreement on the interpretation of the enforceable provisions, and there is a disagreement on the interpretation of the defences available to Toronto Hydro.

So in all likelihood, that issue will go to the Panel, that is:  What is the appropriate interpretation of these enforceable provisions and the defences to those enforceable provisions?

Now, finding the appropriate interpretation, then, is going to fall to the Panel.  I am predicting this more than directing that this is going to happen.  It is your case, of course.  But in all likelihood, you will have to make an interpretation of the enforceable provisions and the defences.

So when you make that interpretation, like all powers of the Board, you will be informed by the Board statutory objectives.  This is similar to how the Board has interpreted other types of provisions.  You revert back to your statutory objectives, and that leads to the appropriate interpretation of all provisions of your legislation and codes, including the enforceable provisions at issue here.

So my point here is that when interpreting the enforceable provisions and when interpreting the statutory defences, the Board will be considering -- I submit you should be considering, I expect that you would be -- the statutory objectives, and I expect that legal submissions in this case will include submissions on how to interpret those provisions, both the enforceable provisions and the defences, in light of the Board's statutory objectives.

So the issue here, of course, is much broader than the issue of in Torstar, where there was an agreed statement of facts.  There was a plea of guilty, and the only issue was remedy.

Now, that -- so that is all stage one, if we can call it that, first stage of sort of evidence.  Was there a breach of the enforceable provisions?  That will require an element of interpretation, legal submissions, and that may be something that the Board Panel would benefit from having different perspectives on how to interpret these provisions in lights of the Board's objectives.

Now, when you get to the second step, which is, if you disagree with Toronto Hydro's interpretation of those provisions and you say, No, there has been a violation, and that violation is not -- or there hasn't been an appropriate defence, the defence hasn't been made out, then you would be considering the remedy.  And in that case, you are exercising a remedy.  Again, the remedy is an exercise of your statutory powers, and again that will be informed by your statutory objectives.

So you may benefit from a broader perspective than just the parties on how your statutory objectives ought to be considered in fashioning a remedy.

Now, again, I am going through this not because I am urging the Board to grant the interventions or to give them full rights, but it is more, again, a matter of disclosure on how this hearing is likely to play out, and so when the Board starts to consider now what were the areas where it may want to make submissions, if you reduce it to the area of remedy, which you may, it is appropriate to consider the other types of issues that may arise in this application.

So, thank you.  Those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  So you seem to be -- and I take it that if I am understanding that on what I will call phase 1, the breach or not breach, the interpretation phase, we have to interpret the rules and the defences, the enforceable provisions as you call them.  We have to interpret them, find out what they mean.

Once we figure out what they mean, we have to figure out whether the facts would suggest there is non-compliance or compliance; right?  That is phase 1.

You say the Board would benefit from other views.  I take it you mean the intervenors' views on that?

MR. VEGH:  I would certainly say that you may not want to preclude the fact today that you may benefit from those views, because those views will not be on the guilt or innocence of Toronto Hydro, but what is the appropriate way to interpret the enforceable provisions in light of the Board's statutory objectives?  And that is a broader issue than just the issue of whether or not Toronto Hydro is in compliance.

MR. KAISER:  Because you would say, I suppose, that interpretation, to the extent it is written down, would affect all of the utilities?

MR. VEGH:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Millar, did you have anything to say?
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  I have only one very minor thing to add.  What we're talking here, of course, is the participation rights of the EDA and the working group in the proceeding itself.

There is, of course, a motion filed for next Friday, and one of the things that Mr. Vegh is seeking in that motion is a production order from some of Mr. O'Leary's clients.  We haven't discussed that at all, and I suspect because it is largely agreed.  But I would think Mr. O'Leary would be entitled to be heard in that proceeding irrespective of what is decided on his rights in the hearing as a whole.

So I just didn't want that to be forgotten, that there is a second issue that doesn't relate at all to remedy in the proceeding, as a whole, that I would think Mr. O'Leary would be entitled to be heard in.

MR. KAISER:  I am sure Mr. Vegh doesn't object to that.

MR. VEGH:  No, sir, I don't object.  To clarify, the production order includes production from Mr. O'Leary's clients, but from other persons, as well.  And I would expect that just as a matter of Board practice, you would hear submissions from all participants, whether they're parties or not.

In our request for production, we specify that we would request the production from non-parties, as well as from intervenors.

MR. KAISER:  I understood that.

Anyone who you are seeking production from would obviously be entitled to respond.

MR. VEGH:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  By the way, before we move on with this issue, where are we on the production question?  Have the lines been drawn in the sand, or are you still negotiating, or what's the status of it?

I saw Mr. O'Leary's response.  He said "no", as far as I can tell.

But in terms of the production that Mr. Vegh requested from Board Staff, has that been ironed out, that we know what you are prepared to produce and what you are not prepared to produce so we know how we are going to argue next Friday?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Chair, we have arranged, after we finish up today, to have a conversation with Mr. Millar, as well.

So we will see if we can move the --

MR. KAISER:  It would go without saying, Mr. Vegh and Mr. Zacher, that before we hear the second issue next Friday, we would like to have a clear statement from both of you as to what is agreed to and what is not agreed to so we can focus on it prior to the hearing.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you, sir.  So far the answer has been "no", but I am optimistic.

MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Zacher is very reasonable.

Anything further, gentlemen?
Further Submissions by Mr. Taylor:


MR. TAYLOR:  I just have a short reply to Mr. Zacher's argument.

I would agree with most of the arguments that he made, if this were a case that simply turned on the facts.

I think that not all compliance proceedings are the same.  There are some that just turn on the facts, kind of like an absolute liability offence.  So, for example, if the allegation were that not all -- not -- or more than one-third of the board of directors were not independent from an affiliate and there was evidence to prove that that were the case, then we wouldn't be here, because that would simply be a factual-based proceeding.

But in this case, as Mr. Vegh explained, it is more complicated.  There is going to be some sort of interpretation of what the rules are, and then an application of those rules to the factual circumstances.  And it is that interpretation that distinguishes this type of compliance proceeding from the other type of compliance proceeding, and that is why we are here.

As you suggested, Mr. Chair, the decision on the interpretation of the rules could have an impact on other LDCs.

Now, I don't want to give evidence here, but I don't think it would be unreasonable to assume that the decision is going to spread like wildfire amongst the LDC community.  They're going to look at it and they're going to say, oh, I guess we can't do this.  So their activities will be directly influenced by this decision.

So for that reason, I think that it makes a lot of sense that the EDA be permitted to participate on the limited basis that it described.

Those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Zacher, could I ask you this?  As this argument has unfolded, we have phase 1 and we have phase 2.  But within phase 1, if I can call it that, there is a strict legal issue, the interpretation of the enforceable provisions and the defences, as Mr. Vegh calls it, and then there is the factual issue whether -- having determined that, whether there was compliance or non-compliance.

On the strict legal issue, not the factual compliance issue, would you have any objection to either of these groups weighing in on the legal interpretation?

MR. ZACHER:  I do, Mr. Chair.

There is nothing unique about these circumstances.  In any sort of compliance proceeding, the person who plays the role of enforcement counsel or prosecutor has to marshal necessary evidence in order to establish the proof of the necessary elements, and then has to prove what the law is.

And that second aspect, in many cases, will involve differing views as to how to interpret the provisions.  That is not unusual.

Our position is that the enforceable provisions at issue in this case are relatively clear.  There shouldn't be much debate about it.  But certainly Mr. Vegh's entitled to disagree.

If that happens, then we will make submissions to you about what the principles of statutory interpretation are.  And Mr. Vegh is quite right one of the principles that informs statutory interpretation are the objectives that are set out in the statute that is sought to be interpreted.  But there is nothing that requires that there be others who weigh in on that issue.

Mr. Vegh is quite capable of making those arguments and he can talk to Mr. Taylor and others to make sure he hasn't missed all of the points.  You don't need to have others weighing in on that issue in my submission.

And it offends, in my view, Mr. Vegh's position that he earlier took, which is:  I agree that nobody has -- no outside parties have a role in weighing in on innocence or guilt.

Well, this is the issue that goes to whether there has been a contravention or there hasn't been a contravention.  It is a factual issue, but it is also saying what the law is.

So those are issues that we may fight over, but properly we should be the only ones fighting over it, and you are the one who has to make the legal adjudication at the end of the day.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Anything further?  All right.  We will come back in half an hour.

--- Recess taken at 10:25 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 10:42 a.m.
DECISION:

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

The Board this morning heard submissions as to whether intervenor status should be granted to two parties.

The first party is the Electricity Distributors Association, which is an association that represents most, if not all, of the utilities in this Province.  The second party is the Smart Sub-Meter Working Group, an association that represents a number of companies engaged in the supply of smart meters to condominiums and other potential customers, and compete with Toronto Hydro in the matter at issue in this proceeding.

Before going to the specifics, given that this is a somewhat unusual case and certainly the first case of this type, some background to this decision may be helpful.

This proceeding commenced by way of a Notice of Intention To Make An Order For Compliance Under Section 112.3 of the Ontario Energy Board Act issued by this Board on August 4th.  In response to that Notice, Toronto Hydro indicated that they wished a hearing, and the Board issued a Procedural Order giving effect to that.

The Board also appointed independent counsel to prosecute, if I can use that term, this proceeding.  That is Mr. Glenn Zacher.  I will refer to his submissions, as well as the submissions by Toronto Hydro and the two potential intervenors.

As I indicated, the Board Compliance Counsel, Mr. Zacher, is seeking an order under Section 112.3 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  That section says that:
"If the Board is satisfied that a person has contravened or is likely to contravene an enforceable provision, the Board may make on order requiring the person to comply with the enforceable provision and to take such action as the Board may specify to: (a) remedy a contravention that has occurred or prevent a contravention or further contravention of the enforceable provisions."

At issue in this proceeding is Toronto Hydro's alleged practice, of refusing to connect new condominium projects within its service area unless all units in the condominium are individually smart metered by Toronto.

It is alleged in the Notice that this practice effectively precludes condominium corporations or the developers of those condominiums from seeking the services of alternative sub-metering providers.

On August 26th, the Board received an intervention request from the EDA, who I have described, and two days later received a second request from the Smart Meter Working Group, which I have also described.

In the submissions this morning, it is apparent that the two groups differ in the degree to which they wish to participate in these proceedings.  That is material, to the Board's decision this morning.

The Board has an option, under its rules, Rule 23 and Rule 24 or 25 of permitting participation on conditions or on a limited basis.

This proceeding - (and there is largely agreement on this) - can be described as having two phases.  In phase 1, there are two aspects:  First, the interpretation of the enforceable provisions and the defences having regard to the Board's statutory objectives and other criteria.  That I would call the legal issue.  The second aspect which I would call the factual issue is, given the legal interpretation, whether there has been compliance or non-compliance.

The second phase is:  Having found non-compliance, if non-compliance is found, what order or remedy should the Board formulate and issue?

The Working Group is content to participate strictly on what we call the second phase - that is to say the remedy side - and has acknowledged, in response to Counsel for Toronto Hydro, that they will not introduce any new evidence in any of those submissions, but rely on the record in the case.

The EDA, on the other hand, wants to participate in both Phase 1 and 2.  That's the difference.

Compliance Counsel is content to accept the participation of the Working Group, limited to Phase 2.

Compliance Counsel is not prepared to accept the participation of the EDA on Phase 1 and 2, or even on Phase 2 alone.

With respect to Phase 1, Compliance Counsel argues that there should be only one prosecutor, and he is it, and he doesn't need any help from anyone else.

With respect to participation by EDA on phase 2 alone, Compliance Counsel argues that it is largely duplicative of Toronto Hydro.  There is no apparent difference, he says, between the interests of all of the other utilities and Toronto Hydro, at least at this stage of these proceedings.

Mr. Taylor, Counsel to the EDA, isn't quite sure about that.  He said he would like to wait and see if there is a difference and, at that point, advise us what the difference is.

We have received a very helpful brief from Compliance Counsel setting out the law, which I will refer to briefly.

The general test is set out in the Peel (Regional Municipality) v. Great Atlantic & Pacific Co., and the Board is familiar with these tests.  It is always incumbent upon the Board to make sure that a proposed intervenor will make a useful contribution, that the intervention wouldn't unfairly prejudice the other parties, that the proposed intervenor has a direct and substantial interest.  That requirement is set out in Rule 23 of the Ontario Energy Board Rules of Practice and Procedure.

The other rule is that in disciplinary hearings, the ability of parties to intervene is limited.  We were referred to a number of cases before the Ontario Securities Commission, the Albino case at Tab 7, the Hollinger case at Tab 5, and the Torstar case at Tab 10.

This rule concerns an important principle which is outlined in Hollinger: a tribunal must exercise care to ensure that an intervenor's participation will not unfairly prejudice the existing parties in the process.  To use a simple statement, it is generally viewed, by most tribunals, that there should only be one prosecutor.

Given that we have, in this case, a highly regarded independent prosecutor, we think that rule should be observed.  It is an important rule and one which we adopt.

Accordingly, any participation by either of these two intervenors, in our view, would be limited to what we have called phase 2.

We accept Compliance Counsel's view that there may be an overlap between the EDA and Toronto Hydro. That overlap issue doesn't exist with respect to the Working Group.  There is that distinction.  But we think, in fairness, we should grant both groups the same rights.

So we will allow the intervention of both EDA and the Working Group, but limited to the Phase 2 aspect, which is the ability to comment on the proposed remedy, if in fact there is a proposed remedy.  That, of course, may become moot.  It may turn out that Toronto Hydro is correct, and on a proper interpretation of the enforceable provisions and defences there has not been an act of non-compliance and we won't get to phase 2.  But in the event we do get to phase 2, both the EDA and Working Group will be able to participate on the basis outlined.


Any questions, gentlemen?  Oh, by the way, we are not awarding costs to either of these parties.  I don't think costs were asked for in the case of the EDA and I don't think you either, Mr. O'Leary?

MR. O'LEARY:  We were not looking for costs.

MR. KAISER:  That's what I understood.  So there will be no cost award with respect to this.

I may have misspoke, Mr. Vegh.  I thought you had objected to the working group.  Ms. Chaplin points out that you didn't object to the working group's participation, provided that they were careful in the scope of their submissions and didn't introduce any new evidence.

Do I have your position right?  I didn't mean to misstate it.

MR. VEGH:  That's correct, sir.  Thank you.

My submissions that I was making applied generally to both parties.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Any questions, gentlemen?  All right.  See you next Friday.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 10:55 a.m.



















PAGE  

